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March 22, 1993
SECRETARY OF LABOR

M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA)

v. : Docket Nos. WEST 90-202- M
: WEST 90- 363- RM
CYPRUS TONOPAH M NI NG CORP. : WEST 90- 364- RM

BEFORE: Hol en, Chairman; Backl ey, Doyle, and Nel son, Comni ssioners
DECI SI ON
BY THE COWM SSI ON

Thi s consol i dated contest and civil penalty proceedi ng, arising under
t he Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O 801 et seq.
(1988) (the "M ne Act"” or "Act"), involves a dispute between the Secretary of
Labor and Cyprus Tonopah M ning Corp. ("Cyprus") regarding two citations
i ssued to Cyprus alleging violations of 30 CF.R 0O 56.3200 and
56. 3130. (Footnote 1) The citations were later nodified to allege that the
vi ol ati ons were caused by Cyprus' unwarrantable failure to conply with the
mandat ory standards.
1 30 CF.R 0O 56.3200, entitled "Correction of hazardous conditions,"
provi des:
Ground conditions that create a hazard to

persons shall be taken down or supported before other

work or travel is permitted in the affected area.

Until corrective work is conpleted, the area shall be

posted with a warning agai nst entry and, when |eft

unattended, a barrier shall be installed to inpede

unaut hori zed entry.

30 CF.R [0O56.3130, entitled "Wall, bank, and slope stability,"
provi des:
M ni ng net hods shall be used that will maintain

wal I, bank, and slope stability in places where

persons work or travel in perform ng their assigned

tasks. \When benching is necessary, the width and

hei ght shall be based on the type of equi pnent used

for cleaning of benches or for scaling of walls,

banks, and sl opes.
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Fol | owi ng an evidentiary hearing, Adm nistrative Law Judge M chael Lasher
found that Cyprus had violated the standards and that the violations were
caused by Cyprus' unwarrantable failure to conply with the standards, but that
they were not significant and substantial ("S&S") in nature. 13 FMSHRC 1523
(Sept ember 1991) (ALJ). The judge also concluded that the citati ons were not
duplicative, and could be nodified following their termnation. The

Commi ssi on granted Cyprus' petition for discretionary review, which challenged
all of these conclusions except the judge's deternmination that the violations
were not S&S. For the reasons that follow, we affirmthe judge's rulings,
except for his determ nation that Cyprus' violation of section 56.3200 was
caused by its unwarrantable failure, which we reverse.

l.
Factual and Procedural Background

Cyprus owns and operates an open pit nmol ybdenum mine in Tonopah, Nevada.
The lower pit of the mne, "Pushback One" ("PB1"), is the focus of this
proceedi ng.

On February 27, 1990, Arthur Ellis, an inspector fromthe Departnent of
Labor's M ne Safety and Health Adm nistration ("MSHA"), conducted a regul ar
i nspection of the mne. |Inspector Ellis, acconpanied by M ke Curran, Cyprus
operations supervisor, observed that on the east wall of PBl there was only
one partial bench "about one quarter of the way fromthe top ... and no
benches the rest of the way down," and that the bench was partly full of |oose
and unconsolidated material.(Footnote 2) Tr. | 16-17, 20. He noticed that
the east wall was rather steep and had a "nose," or protrusion, that
consi derably narrowed the middle of the pit floor. He observed that npbst of
the benches on the west wall of PBl1 were covered by | oose and unconsol i dated
materi al and were inpassable.

I nspector Ellis also observed a dozer descending into PBlL and was
informed by M. Curran and Robert Altanmirano, Cyprus' safety nanager, that
m ners were building a new berm along the base of the west wall because a
previ ous berm had been filled with |l oose material that had sloughed fromthe
wal | . Inspector Ellis was told by Curran and Altanmirano that material was
continually filling up the benches, and the berm was being built in an attenpt
to prevent material fromfalling onto mners working at the pit bottom The
i nspector was concerned that, if the west wall were disturbed in the process
of building the berm |oosened material would coll apse onto the dozer
operator. He suggested that the bermbe rebuilt by hauling material into PBl
by truck, rather than by using existing material from PB1. This was
subsequent |y done.
2 A bench is defined as "a | edge, which ... fornms a single | evel of operation
above which mneral or waste materials are excavated from a conti guous bank or
bench face...." Dictionary of Mning, Mneral, and Rel ated Terns, 96 (1968).
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Later that evening, Inspector Ellis discussed his observations with his
supervi sor, Roger Breland, and requested ground control advice from MSHA' s
techni cal support division. The follow ng day, on February 28, Ellis issued
Citation No. 3459560, which alleged an S&S violation of section 56.3200, and
st at ed:

There was | oose material and rocks on high walls in
the Push Back One pit. Benches were full and did not
provi de protection fromfalling material. The walls
were about 145 ft. high. An access road ran next to
the west wall and punps were being utilized to punp
water at the bottomof the pit. An enployee enters
the area to nove and maintain punps. The area was not
posted or barricaded to prevent travel al ongside the
hi gh wal | s.

S-Exh. 2. The citation was term nated on March 2, 1990, after the "entrance
to Push Back One pit was barricaded and posted to prevent entry into the pit.
S- Exh. 2.

Inspector Ellis also issued Citation No. 3645243 on February 28, which
all eged an S&S violation of section 56.3130, and stated:

Benches between the 5545 | evel and the 5400 level in

t he Push Back One had accunul ated with materials and
woul d not provide an adequate catch bench to protect
persons working below. An access road ran next to the
west wall and punps were being utilized to punp water
fromthe bottomof the pit. Enployee's [sic] enter
the area to nove and mai ntain punps.

S-Exh. 1. The citation also provided that "[a]ll future mining will include
benches that are cleanable and maintainable." S-Exh. 1. On March 2, 1990,
the citation was termnated after mining activity in PBl was abandoned.

I nspector Ellis nodified both citations on March 1, 1990, prior to their
term nation, by adding unwarrantable failure findings, thereby changing the
two 104(a) citations to one citation and one order issued pursuant to section
104(d) (1) of the Mne Act. The citation and order were again nodified on
Septenber 5, 1990, to change the nunber of persons affected by the violations.
(Footnote 3)

Cyprus subsequently filed notices of contest and also filed a notion for
partial summary judgment, alleging that the Septenber 5 nodifications were
i mproper because they occurred after the citation and order had been
term nated. The judge denied Cyprus' notion, and the natter proceeded to an
evi dentiary hearing.
3 The citations were nodified on various other occasions for m nor or
techni cal reasons unrelated to the issues presented.
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Fol | owi ng the hearing, the judge affirmed his pretrial ruling on the
post-term nation nodifications. 13 FMSHRC at 1527. The judge also rejected
Cyprus' allegation that the citations(Footnote 4) were issued for the sane
condition in the same area and, thus, were duplicative. 13 FMSHRC at 1549.
The judge reasoned that the requirenents of sections 56.3200 and 56. 3130, and
the conditions described in the two citations, differed. 13 FMSHRC at 1549-
50. The judge concluded that Cyprus had violated both sections 56.3200 and
56.3130. 13 FMSHRC at 1550-51. The judge further determ ned that the
vi ol ati ons were not S&S but were caused by Cyprus' unwarrantable failure to
conply with the standards. 13 FMSHRC at 1551-55.

On review, Cyprus challenges all of the judge's adverse determ nations
and al so argues that the judge did not address its claimthat the Secretary
failed to plead violations with requisite particularity.

.
Di sposition of |ssues
A.  Violation of section 56.3200
In concluding that Cyprus violated section 56.3200, the judge found:

there existed | oose rock and material on walls and

sl opes of Pushback 1, which together with full and
partly full, inadequately maintained, failing benches
created a hazard to mners working in the narrow pit
bel ow and traveling along the haul road |eading into
the lower pit area. These hazardous ground conditions
had not been taken down or corrected, and the area was
not posted with a warning against entry or otherw se
barri caded to i npede entry...

13 FMSHRC at 1550.

On review, Cyprus argues that the judge's conclusion is not supported by
substanti al evidence. Cyprus further contends that the judge erred by
adopting an interpretation of the standard whereby the nere presence of |oose
material would constitute a per se violation. Cyprus also contends that the
judge's determ nation of the existence of a hazard is fl awed because he fail ed
to consider that the west wall sloped to an angle of repose, and because the
factors he relied upon to determine the violation was not S&S could al so
support a conclusion that there was no hazard.

We di sagree with Cyprus's argunments. The judge did not interpret the
standard to require a finding of violation whenever |oose material was
4 After finding the S&S allegations invalid, the judge nodified the citation
and order to section 104(a) citations. Consequently, we refer to the subject
enforcenent actions as "citations." See Mettiki Coal Corp., 13 FMSHRC 760,
764 (May 1991); Consolidation Coal Co., 4 FMSHRC 1791, 1794 (CQctober 1982).
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present. Rather, he expressly considered factors in addition to | oose
material, stating that a hazard existed due to the "l oose rock and materi al
filled benches, failing benches, tension cracks, and narrow pit floor." 13
FMSHRC at 1536. While the judge noted the testinmony of Cyprus's w tnesses
that the west wall had reached an angle of repose, and was stable (See, e.qg.
13 FMSHRC at 1537-38, 1540-41), he credited testinony of the Secretary's

Wi t nesses asserting that nmaterial on the west wall had a potential to nove
and, in fact, was noving and reaching the pit bottom 13 FMSHRC at 1535, 1551
n. 27.

Cyprus' further contention that the judge should have considered the
same factors that he utilized in considering whether the violation was S&S to

determ ne whether there was a hazard is without merit. |In establishing that a
violation is S&S, the Secretary nust prove that there is a reasonable
likelihood that the hazard contributed to by the violation will result in an

injury. Mthies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984). Section 56.3200
requires that operators restrict miners' access to areas where hazardous
conditions exist, whether or not it is likely that the hazard will result in
an injury.

We al so conclude that substantial evidence supports the judge's finding
that ground conditions on the east and west walls and pit floor created a
hazard within the nmeani ng of section 56.3200. (Footnote 5) See Donovan v.
Phel ps Dodge Corporation, 709 F.2d 86, 92 (D.C. Cir. 1983). The judge
credited Inspector Ellis' testinmony that the benches on the west wall were
full, that there was | oose material on the faces, that the | oose materia
"could cone down and get sonebody," and that the berm al ong portions of the
west wall was "filled up." 13 FMSHRC at 1529 n.8 & 1530. In addition, the
judge credited the testinmony of David Ropchan, a m ning engineer from MSHA' s
techni cal support division who had observed the conditions in PB1 on March 6,
1990, that the west wall was in a "state of distress” in that there was a
partial failure of the wall, resulting in partly or fully covered,
i naccessi ble and ineffective catch benches. 13 FMSHRC at 1531, 1533. M.
Ropchan testified that pieces of |oose material, up to several feet in
di aneter, existed near the top of the west wall. 13 FMSHRC at 1532-33. He
stated that such conditions were hazardous because they could feed rock onto
the sl opes below and allow material to roll into the pit. 13 FMSHRC at 1532.
Ropchan observed that the rough surface of the west wall would allow falling
rock to bounce, becone airborne, and assune a "consi derable horizonta
velocity." 13 FMSHRC at 1533-34. He explained that such | oose material was a
threat to mners and equipnment in the pit because the west wall benches woul d
be unable to contain sone falling material, and the west wall stood over a
very narrow travelway. |d. Ropchan testified that |large material and
"material com ng down with enough energy" could roll over the bermor "blow'
through it. Tr. |1 38-39.

The judge al so credited Ropchan's witten report, in which he stated
that a berm pl aced al ong the west half of the haul road was too close to the
5 Evidence is undi sputed that PBl1 was not posted or barricaded agai nst entry
and that mners were working in the area. Tr. | 63; Tr. Ill 15; 13 FMSHRC at
1536.
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wal | and too small to "provide sufficient rock fall protection considering the
overall condition" of the west wall. 13 FMSHRC at 1535. Ropchan al so stated
in his report that tension cracks existed along the crest of the west

wal | . (Footnote 6) 13 FMSHRC at 1534.

Wth respect to the east wall, the judge credited Inspector Ellis'
testinmony regarding the scarcity of benches and the narrowness of the bottom
of the pit, allowing only linmted roomfor a mner to escape falling rock. 13
FMSHRC at 1529-30; Tr. | 16-17, 20. Ropchan also testified that the east wal
woul d tend toward greater instability because of its protrusion. Tr. |l 85-
86. The judge al so credited Ropchan's testimony that the condition of the
wal | posed sone hazard to miners working in the narrow bottom of the pit. Tr.
Il 30, 37; 13 FMSHRC at 1531 n. 10.

Cyprus challenges the judge's credibility determ nations, arguing that
MSHA' s wi tnesses failed to investigate the conditions sufficiently, and that
Cyprus' expert wi tnesses were better qualified than MSHA's. The Conmm ssion
has recogni zed that:

[e] xpert witnesses testify to offer their scientific
opi nions on technical matters to the trier of fact.

If the opinions of expert witnesses conflict in a
proceedi ng, the judge nust determ ne which opinion to
credit, based on such factors as the credentials of
the expert and the scientific bases for the expert's
opi ni on.

Asarco, Inc., 14 FMSHRC 941, 949 (June 1992).

The judge recogni zed Ropchan as well as two of Cyprus' witnesses, Janes
Savely, a senior geol ogi cal engineer in Cyprus' technical service assistance
group, and Richard Call, the president of a geotechnical consulting firm as
experts. Tr. Il 14; Tr. 11l 77, 116. The judge noted that, in weighing their
testi mony, he would consider such factors as experience, qualifications,
famliarity with the precise conditions, and how convincingly the testinony
was stated. Tr. Il 15. The judge credited the testinmny of Ropchan and ot her
MSHA wi t nesses over that of Cyprus' w tnesses because he found it to be nore
convincing, reliable, and objective. 13 FMSHRC at 1534, 1546. The judge al so
found Ropchan's concl usions regarding the conditions in PBlL to be "consistent
with the general sense of the evidentiary record (including the various

phot ographi c exhibits therein).” 13 FMSHRC at 1534. |n addition, Ropchan
testified that he had exam ned the mine conditions sufficiently to reach his
conclusions (Tr. Il 91), and the judge credited this testinmony. Furthernore,

the judge noted that the m ning conditions observed by Ropchan had remai ned
mat erially unchanged fromthe tine of citation. 13 FMSHRC at 1532 n. 11
However, the judge noted that the conditions observed by Dr. Call were
5__§Eﬁgﬁ§n testified that such cracks are a precursor to slope failure. Tr.
1 28-29.
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different fromthose in existence of the tinme of citation. 13 FMSHRC at

1541. (Footnote 7) W find no circunstances in this case warranting the
unusual measure of rejecting the judge's determ nation that the testinmony of
MSHA' s expert wi tnesses should be credited over the testinony of Cyprus
expert wi tnesses. See generally Ranger Fuel Corp., 12 FMSHRC 363, 374 (March
1990) .

Therefore, we conclude that substantial evidence supports the judge's
finding that ground conditions existing in PBlL created a hazard within the
meani ng of section 56.3200. W affirmthe judge's finding that Cyprus
vi ol ated section 56.3200.

B. Viol ati on of section 56.3130

In concluding that Cyprus violated section 56.3130, the judge determ ned
that the use of adequately naintai ned benches was a necessary part of the
m ni ng net hod enployed in PBl, and that the benches had accunul ated rock and
other material and did not serve as adequate catch benches. 13 FMSHRC at
1536, 1550. The judge al so found that Cyprus had not otherw se maintained
wal I, bank, and slope stability. 13 FMSHRC at 1551 n. 27.

Cyprus argues that the judge's determ nation is erroneous because the
judge misinterpreted the standard by holding that the "potential requirenent
of benches was the paranmount requirement” of the standard. C. Br. at 25.
Cyprus nmamintains that an operator is required to acconplish the purpose of the
standard, that is, provide stable walls, benches and sl opes where m ners work
or travel, by whatever mining nethod is appropriate. Cyprus also argues that
the standard requires cleaning and scaling of benches only when the m ning
process is initiated. Cyprus further contends that the judge's finding of a
vi ol ati on of section 56.3130 is not supported by substantial evidence and that
the standard is inperm ssibly vague.

Section 56.3130 expressly requires the use of mning nethods that
mai ntain wall, bank and sl ope stability where persons work or travel. The
standard al so requires that "[w] hen benching is necessary, the width and the
hei ght shall be based on the type of equipnent used for cleaning of benches or
for scaling....”" 30 C.F.R [ 56.3130. The standard does not expressly
require benching, nor does it set forth specific paraneters for cleaning or
mai nt ai ni ng benches if they are used.

The preanble to section 56.3130 further explains its application:

When benches are included in the "mning

met hod, " there nust al so be a maintenance system

selected to prevent the deterioration of the ground

fromcreating a fall of ground hazard. \When required,
7 The judge explai ned, however, that the testinmony of M. Savely and Dr. Cal
had nore probative value as to whether the violation was S&S, rather than as
to whet her Cyprus had violated the standard, because they seenmed to concede
the hazard of rock fall, and only gauged its probability of occurrence. 13
FMSHRC at 1542 n. 18.
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t he benches nmust be able to serve as catch benches.
MSHA agrees with the comrenter who stated that many
factors contribute to the determ nati on of bench w dth
and height. The standard provides a performance-
oriented approach without restrictions on wi dth and
hei ght of benches, other than those necessitated by
the equi pment selected for the mai ntenance function

51 Fed. Reg. 36192, 36193 (Cctober 8, 1986). The purpose of the standard is
to require mning nmethods that will maintain ground stability. The standard
contenpl ates that benches, when included as part of an operator's mning

met hod, nust function as catch surfaces and nust be maintained in order to
prevent fall of ground hazards. Benches, therefore, nmust be accessible to
mai nt enance equi prent. (Footnote 8)

Evi dence regarding the state of the benches in PBl1 and Cyprus' failure
to clean themis probative of the stability of the walls, banks, and slopes in
PB1. The judge concluded that the east and west walls were not conpetent,
relying upon the failure of the benches, as well as other evidence that the
wal ls were not stable. As noted above, the judge credited Inspector ElIlis’
testinmony regarding the | ack of space on the east wall benches to catch
material. The judge also credited statenents in Ropchan's witten report that
the east wall did "not have adequate catch benches to protect against falling
rock in the work and travel areas below " 13 FMSHRC at 1535. Cyprus
acknow edges that it enployed benching on its east wall as a nethod of ground
control and that no consideration was given, when designing the benches, to
maki ng them accessi ble for maintenance. Tr. |l 143; C. Br. at 35.

Wth respect to the west wall, the judge determ ned that benching was a
necessary part of the mning method enployed, in part because Cyprus had
originally constructed benches on that wall and had adjusted its doubl e-
benchi ng nethod to a single-benching nethod. Cyprus contends that, because it
encount ered unexpected problenms in the west wall, it had to alter its mning
met hods and, on the day of the inspection, benches were no | onger necessary
because the wall sloped to an angle of repose and a berm existed al ong
portions of its base. The record, however, reveals that, although Cyprus
relied upon other nethods, it did not abandon benching. As Cyprus
acknow edged, when it adjusted its mning nmethod due to conditions encountered

on the west wall, it inserted a bench at the 5475 foot level and inserted "a
wi der than planned bench" on other portions of the west wall. C. Br. at 4,
33.

The judge credited MSHA w tnesses' testinmony that the west wall was in a
state of distress in that benches had failed or were partially full of fallen
mat eri al rendering some of themquite ineffective, and that a sufficient
8 We disagree with Cyprus' assertion that an operator is required under the
standard to cl ean benches only upon their initial construction. The standard
contenpl ates that benches nust be cl eaned whenever such activity would aid
their ability to catch material, or to prevent ground fromdeteriorating and
creating a hazard.
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t hreat existed that the benches would be unable to catch material noving down
the wall. 13 FMSHRC at 1529 n.8, 1532-33. The judge also credited testinony
that material was noving down the wall and had partially filled an existing
berm 13 FMSHRC at 1535. Cyprus' operations supervisor conceded that sonme

material fromthe wall had raveled to the bottom Tr. I1l 33-34. In
addition, the judge credited testinony from Ropchan regardi ng the inadequacy
of the augmentation to the existing bermalong portions of the west wall. 13

FMSHRC at 1535. 1In sum substantial evidence supports the judge's finding
that the east and west wall were not stable and that the benches were not
mai ntained to fulfill their function as required by the standard.

We further agree with the judge that section 56.3130 is not
i nperm ssi bly vague. The Comm ssion has previously recogni zed that, in order
to afford adequate notice, a mandatory safety standard cannot be "so
i nconpl ete, vague, indefinite or uncertain that [persons] of conmon
intelligence nust necessarily guess at its nmeaning and differ as to its
application.” Ildeal Cenent Co., 12 FMSHRC 2409, 2416 (Novenber 1990)
(citations omitted). Section 56.3130 incorporates a "performance-oriented"
approach so that it is "broad enough to apply to the wi de variety of
conditions encountered."” 51 Fed. Reg. at 36193. The appropriate test in
interpreting and applying such broadly worded standards:

is not whether the operator had explicit prior notice
of a specific prohibition or requirenent, but whether
a reasonably prudent person famliar with the mning
i ndustry and the protective purposes of the standard
woul d have recogni zed the specific prohibition or
requi rement of the standard.

| deal, 12 FMSHRC at 2416. The judge properly found that a reasonably prudent
person woul d have recogni zed that section 56.3130 requires operators to adopt
m ni ng nethods that maintain wall, bank, and slope stability, and that
benches, when used, nust be maintained so as to aid wall stability.
Accordingly, we affirmthe judge's determ nation that Cyprus violated section
56. 3130.

C. VWhet her the violations were caused by Cyprus' unwarrantable
failure

In concluding that the violations were unwarrantable, the judge rejected
Cyprus' argunent that the condition of the benches justified its failure to
clean them 13 FMSHRC at 1552. He found that Cyprus never planned to
maintain its benches, and that the failure to clean themcreated the hazard of
falling rock. 1d. 1In addition, the judge determ ned that Cyprus' conduct in
these instances was inconsistent with its abatenment actions with regard to
previ ous violations of sections 56.3200 and 56.3130. 1d. The judge concl uded
t hat Cyprus'’

failure to maintain and clean its benches was not
merely due to inadvertence or inattention since it is
beyond di spute that its managenent personnel were
quite aware of the continuity of conditions, [but]
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proceeded intentionally to expose nminers on the hau
road and in the very narrow pit despite ineffective
failing catch benches, and the presence of |oose rock
and materi al

I d.

In Enery Mning Corp., 9 FMSHRC 1997, 2004 (Decenber 1987), the
Commi ssi on determ ned that unwarrantable failure is aggravated conduct
constituting nmore than ordinary negligence. This determination was derived,
in part, fromthe plain meaning of "unwarrantable"” ("not justifiable" or
"inexcusable"), "failure" ("neglect of an assigned, expected or appropriate
action"), and "negligence" ("the failure to use such care as a reasonably
prudent and careful person would use, characterized by "inadvertence,'

“thoughtl essness,' and “inattention'"). Id. The Comm ssion's determ nation
al so was based on the purpose of unwarrantable failure sanctions in the M ne
Act, the Act's legislative history, and judicial precedent. I|d.

Prior to this proceeding, MSHA i nspectors had been concerned about the
stability of the high walls in PBl and had previously issued citations, which
were uncontested, for those conditions. In My 1989, nine nonths before
I nspector Ellis" inspection, MSHA |Inspector Ron Barri had visited the mne, in
response to a mner's conplaint about various matters including the condition
of the west wall. On May 31, and June 1, 1989, |nspector Barri issued two
citations that alleged S&S violations of sections 56.3200 and 56.3130. The
section 56.3200 citation stated that there "were |arge piece[s] of |oose

mat eri al hangi ng on the west high wall ... above the ranp" and that the "area
was not posted or barricaded to prevent travel alongside the high wall." S
Exh. 18. The section 56.3130 citation stated that benches on the south end of
the east wall "had been allowed to accunul ate materials and woul d not provide
an adequate catch bench to protect haul truck traffic below, " and that a
"mai nt enance program for naintaining benches had not been established...." S

Exh. 19. M. Breland (supervisor of Ellis and Barri) had i nspected the m ne
in June 1989, and held a post-inspection conference regarding the two

citations issued by Inspector Barri. At the neeting, Breland, Cyprus' Cenera
Manager Bill G bson, Curran, Altamirano, and a mners' representative

di scussed the pit walls, overall mning plan, and signs of failure in the west
wall. Breland testified that they di scussed the requirenents of section

56.3130 and 56.3200 "fairly extensively." Tr. | 111

The testinony in the instant proceeding reveals that Cyprus apparently
bel i eved that nmmi ntenance of a berm along portions of the west wall put it in
conpliance with section 56.3200. |In My 1989, when cited for violating
section 56.3200 because of conditions existing on the west wall, Cyprus had
abated the citation by building a bermal ong the base of the west wall. S
Exh. 18. Although Supervisory Inspector Breland testified that Cyprus had
been permitted to abate the earlier citation in such a fashion because MSHA

understood that Cyprus was going to | essen the angle of the west wall, Curran
testified that he did not understand that building the bermand | essening the
angle of the west wall were linked. Tr. | 172; Tr. 11l 30-32. Curran

under st ood that construction of the berm al one was sufficient to abate the
citation. Tr. Il 31-32. The description of the abatenent action for the
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May 1989 citation does not indicate that the angle of the west wall had to be
reduced, but states only that "the west high wall in the pit ... has been
barricaded with a large bermalong its full length...." S-Exh. 18. M.

G bson also testified that, fromthe discussions of the closeout conference in
June 1989, he understood that building a bermwas sufficient for safe
operation. Tr. Il 211-12.

W also find significant the fact that on the day of I|Inspector Ellis'
i nspection, Cyprus was in the process of constructing a |larger berm at the
base of the west wall. The Commi ssion has previously recognized that an
operator's pre-citation efforts in mtigating a violative condition are
relevant in reviewi ng an unwarrantable failure determ nation. See, e.g., Utah
Power & Light Co., 11 FMSHRC 1926, 1933 (Cctober 1989).

Because Cyprus' conduct apparently resulted froma good faith, albeit
m st aken, belief that its actions were in conpliance with section 56.3200, we
concl ude that substantial evidence does not support the judge's finding that
Cyprus' violation of 56.3200 was caused by its unwarrantable failure. See
general |y U ah Power & Light Co., 12 FMSHRC 965, 972 (May 1990).

The record, however, supports the judge's conclusion that Cyprus
actions in violation of section 56.3130 were a result of its unwarrantable
failure. The citation issued to Cyprus in June 1989, alleging a violation of
section 56.3130, specifically provided that catch benches in PBl1 "had been
allowed to accunul ate[] materials and woul d not provide an adequate catch
bench to protect haul truck traffic below." S-Exh. 19. The citation also
provi ded that a "mai ntenance program for maintaining benches had not been
established.” S-Exh. 19. In order to abate the citation, Cyprus was required
to clean a bench above a working area on the south wall. Wth respect to the
cl ose-out conference regarding the citation, Breland testified:

Also the 3130 | specifically had gone out on severa

of those benches with M ke Curran and ny
superintendent. | talked to himabout what was going
on there. They were or could have been accessed to do
t he bench mai ntenance that's required as part of the
standard. However, they were not doing that and had
not been doing that, and | explained the requirenent
there to keep those benches clear as |long as there was
staff beneath them

Tr. | 111. Thus, Cyprus had been advised in June 1989, that it was required
to adopt a mmi ntenance program so that benches above where mners worked coul d
be cl eaned when necessary to mamintain ground stability. Even after receiving
such notice from MSHA, Cyprus constructed benches that it never intended to
enter for maintenance purposes. Tr. |l 111, 146.

Cyprus' experience with ground stability in PBl should have put it on
notice that bench mai ntenance woul d, nost |ikely, be necessary, and, as
expl ai ned above, section 56.3130 requires an operator to nmintain ground
stability. The standard contenpl ates that benches, when used, be accessible
to mai ntenance equi pnent. Cyprus continued to use benches in its mning, but
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did not construct themso that they could be maintained. As the judge found,

t he benches did not serve their function as catch benches, and the
unmai nt ai ned benches contributed to ground instability. 13 FMSHRC at 1550-51
We concl ude that substantial evidence supports the judge's conclusion that
Cyprus' failure to maintain the benches or take other adequate neasures to

mai ntain stability was aggravated conduct. Accordingly, we affirmhis finding
that Cyprus' violation of section 56.3130 was caused by its unwarrantabl e
failure to conply with the standard.

D. Whether the citations are duplicative

Cyprus argues that the citations are duplicative because they address
the sane conditions in the sane area of the nmine. However, the requirenents
of sections 56.3200 and 56. 3130 are different. Section 56.3130 requires that
an operator use mning nethods that maintain wall stability and sets forth
additional requirenents if benching is necessary. 1In contrast, section
56. 3200 requires that, if a hazardous ground condition occurs, it be corrected
and entry into the area be restricted until corrective work is conpleted. The
standards are related in that an operator's failure to mne in a way that
mai ntains stability may also result in a hazardous condition requiring an
operator to restrict access until the hazardous condition is corrected. As
t he Comm ssion has recogni zed:

[t]he 1977 M ne Act inposes a duty upon operators to
conply with all mandatory safety and heal th standards.
It does not permit an operator to shield itself from
liability for a violation of a mandatory safety
standard si nply because the operator violated a
different, but related, nandatory standard.

El Paso Rock Quarries, Inc., 3 FMSHRC 35, 40 (January 1981). Thus, although
Cyprus' violations nmay have emanated fromthe same events, the citations are
not duplicative because the two standards inpose separate and distinct duties
upon an operator. Accordingly, we affirmthe judge's conclusion that the
citations are not duplicative.

E. Modification of the citations follow ng term nation

Cyprus argues that the Septenber 5, 1990, nodifications to the citations
changi ng the nunber of persons affected by the violations, were inproper
because the citations had been term nated. W agree in result with the
judge's conclusion that the subject citations were not inproperly nodified.

In Woni ng Fuel Corp., 14 FMSHRC 1282 (August 1992)("WFC'), the
Commi ssion held that, absent legal prejudice to the operator, the Secretary's
nodi fication of a section 104 citation, term nated pursuant to section 104(h)
of the Mne Act, 30 U. S.C. O 814(h), was perm ssible. 14 FMSHRC at 1287-92.
The Conmi ssion reasoned that term nation of a section 104 citation is an
adm nistrative action of the Secretary that is neant to convey that a
violative condition has been abated and to informthe operator that it will no
| onger be subject to a withdrawal order pursuant to section 104(b), 30 U.S.C.
0 814(b), for failure to abate. 14 FMSHRC at 1289. The Conmi ssion drew a
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anal ogy between the Secretary's nodification of a ternminated citation or order
and the anmendment of a pleading pursuant to Fed. R Civ. P. 15(a), concluding
that a nodification should be permtted unless the operator would be legally
prejudi ced by the nodification. 14 FMSHRC at 1290.

Here, Cyprus has offered no evidence that it was prejudiced by the
nodi fications but only argues that the nodifications were inproper as a matter
of law. We conclude that Cyprus' challenge to the nodifications is wthout
merit.

F. Particularity of citations

Cyprus argues that the citations failed to plead violations with

sufficient particularity because they do not clearly set forth the tinme or
| ocation that the allegedly violative conditions existed and, furthernore,
that it was confused as to the proper nethod of abatement. Cyprus contends
that the judge failed to address this argunment. |In fact, the judge noted that
Cyprus nmaintains that "both enforcenment docunments (the Citation and the Order)

are inperm ssibly vague." 13 FMSHRC at 1525 (enphasis added). The judge,
by considering specifically the nerits of each alleged violation, inplicitly
rejected Cyprus' particularity argument.

Section 104(a) requires that each "citation shall be in witing and
shall describe with particularity the nature of the violation, including a
reference to the provision of the Act, standard, rule, regulation, or order
all eged to have been violated." The Comr ssion has generally recogni zed t hat
this requirenent for specificity serves the purpose of allow ng the operator
to discern what conditions require abatenent, and to adequately prepare for a
hearing on the matter. See, e.g., Md-Continent Resources,Inc., 11 FMSHRC
505, 510 (April 1989)(citations omtted); JimWlter Resources, Inc., 1 FMSHRC
1827, 1829 (Novenber 1979); A d Ben Coal Co., 2 FMSHRC 1187, 1190 (June 1980);
Ral ph Foster and Sons, 3 FMSHRC 1181 (May 1981).

We conclude that the citations were sufficiently specific to provide
notice to Cyprus that conditions existed that were alleged to be in violation
of the cited standards and that corrective action was necessary. Mreover,
Cyprus conducted extensive pretrial discovery that provided it with an
opportunity to gain the informati on necessary to prepare adequately for trial
See, e.g., Annotation, Construction and Application of Provision of 29 U S.C
0 658(a) that OSHA Citation "shall describe with Particularity the Nature o
the Violation," 48 ALR Fed 466, [0 6(b)(1980). In addition, the cited
conditions were, in fact, adequately abated. Accordingly, we affirmthe
judge's inplicit conclusion that the citations net the Act's specificity
requi renents.
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Concl usi on

For the foregoing reasons, we affirmthe judge's findings that Cyprus
vi ol ated sections 56.3200 and 56.3130, that Cyprus' violation of section
56. 3130 was caused by its unwarrantable failure to conply with the standard,
and that the citations were not duplicative, could properly be nodified
following their term nations, and charged violations with sufficient
particularity. W reverse the judge's finding that Cyprus' violation of
section 56.3200 was caused by its unwarrantable failure. Accordingly, we
remand to the judge for recalculation the penalty for Cyprus' violation of
section 56.3200.

Arl ene Hol en, Chairman

Ri chard V. Backl ey, Comnri ssioner

Joyce A. Doyl e, Comm ssioner

L. Clair Nel son, Comm ssionerQd



